2005

Utah v. Keele : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (2002).
The trial court denied the defendant's Amended Motion to Terminate Restitution. (R. 94 [Amended Motion], 151 [Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law], 155 [Order].) See Addendum A. No other matters are pending in the trial court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue I: Whether the trial court exceeded the authority prescribed by law in calculating court-ordered restitution where the amount was not based upon conduct for which Ms. Keele was convicted or admitted responsibility.

Standard of Review: When a trial court's order of restitution is premised upon statutory interpretation, the trial court's legal conclusions are afforded no deference and are reviewed for correctness in light of the statute's plain meaning. *State v. Mast*, 2001

UT APP 402, ¶ 7, 40 P.3d 1143; *State v. Westerman*, 945 P.2d 695, 696 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Preservation: At a hearing convened January 6, 2005, defense counsel argued that any restitution ordered in excess of \$280 was improper because it must have been calculated from alleged acts or cases for which Ms. Keele did not admit responsibility when, in 1995, she entered a guilty plea. (R. 171, at 6:14-23, 49:10-21, 50:14-20.)

Issue II: Whether the trial court abused its discretion in concluding a hand-written letter from a *pro se* defendant complaining about service and collection fees being added to the restitution balance she was told she owed constituted a *post hoc* admission of responsibility for the entirety of said balance, especially where the *pro se* defendant was never informed of her right to challenge the initial calculation.

Standard of Review: An appellate court will disturb a trial court's restitution order only where "it exceeds that prescribed by law or otherwise abused its discretion." *State v. Schweitzer*, 943 P.2d 649, 653 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Preservation: At the January 2005 hearing, defense counsel argued that the 1996 restitution calculation occurred illegally and without supporting evidence. Defense counsel argued, therefore, that the trial court in 2005 should finally calculate court-ordered restitution based upon evidence in the record. (R. 171, at 4:23-5:2, 6:8-23.)

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201 (1995 [effective until April 29, 1996]): Attached as Addendum B.

STATEMENT OF CASE

In 1995, three cases were filed against Ms. Keele: Case Nos. 951901411, 951901412 and 951901413. (R. 3-5; R. 171, Ex. 7, 8.) (The actual charges are discussed in the Statement of Facts, *infra*.) On October 30, 1995, Ms. Keele agreed to plead guilty to counts I and II of the first case, No. 951901411, and to pay restitution "on all cases." (R. 32.) The State agreed to dismiss counts III-V of the first case, dismiss the other two cases in their entirety, and to not file any additional cases for alleged criminal conduct prior to July 13, 1995. (R. 32-39.) At Ms. Keele's sentencing hearing, December 11, 1995, the Hon. David S. Young, presiding, the State again recommended "full restitution on all cases." (R. 170, at 7:7.¹) The court ordered that restitution be paid "as set by Adult Probation and Parole" ("AP&P"). (R. 170, at 8:23-24; *see also* R. 46 [Judgment/Sentence (restitution to be determined by AP&P)].) No further mention of restitution occurred at the 1995 sentencing hearing.

¹ The cover of the sentencing hearing transcript is dated January 11, 1995. The actual date of the hearing, however, was December 11, 1995.

On May 16, 1996, AP&P received a memo from Smith's [Food and Drug] Returned Check Department claiming that, with service fees added, Ms. Keele owed Smith's a total of \$17,319.44. (R. 171, Ex. 1.)

Ms. Keele, proceeding *pro se*, filed the Motion to Terminate Restitution in 2004. (R. 77.) Counsel from this law office was appointed to represent Ms. Keele, additional pleadings were filed, and a hearing was held. The court denied the amended motion to terminate restitution on February 7, 2005. (R. 155.) The Notice of Appeal was filed on February 14, 2005. (R. 158.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1995, three cases were filed against Ms. Keele. The first was Case No. 951901411. It alleged as follows:

Count I: the defendant attempted to cash a forged check for \$497, but did not succeed (R. 3, 5, 33);

Count II: the defendant did pass a forged check for \$100 (R. 3, 5, 33); and,

Counts III - V: the defendant possessed forged checks (R. 4).

The second, Case No. 951901412, alleged that the defendant received checks stolen from a trucking firm, that the defendant passed one such check for \$180 at Fred Meyer, and that she possessed other stolen checks. (R. 171, Ex. 7.) The third, Case No. 951901413, alleged possession of a controlled substance and drug paraphernalia. (R. 171, Ex. 8.)

Based upon the State's documents and notations in the court file, Ms. Keele's conduct as alleged in the three cases resulted in the actual passing of two forged checks totaling \$280: \$100 to Smith's, and \$180 to Fred Meyer. (R. 3, 5, 33, 171 at Ex. 7.) In 1995, Smith's and Fred Meyer were separate corporations and had not merged. *See The Business Journal – Portland* (Sept. 9, 1997)(Smith's and Fred Meyer merged in September, 1997) (*available at: <http://www.bizjournals.com/portland/stories/1997/09/08/daily4.html>*).

On October 30, 1995, Ms. Keele agreed to plead guilty to counts I and II of the first case, and to pay restitution "on all cases." The State agreed to dismiss counts III-V of the first case, dismiss the other two cases in their entirety, and to not file any additional cases for alleged criminal conduct prior to July 13, 1995. (R. 32-39, 40-41.)

The Presentence Investigation ("PSI") included the following victim impact statement regarding Smith's:

Smith's Food King took the loss on all checks forged by this defendant. No statement was received regarding sentencing in this matter. Emily, with the returned checks department of Smith's Food King was unable to provide information regarding restitution in this matter. She indicated Ms. Keele's name was on so many of the forged checks they are holding it would take them "some time" to gather all of the information.

(R. 47, at 4.) The PSI does include a victim impact statement from Fred Meyer.

At Ms. Keele's sentencing hearing, December 11, 1995, the Hon. David S. Young, presiding, the State again recommended "full restitution on all cases." (R. 170, at 7:7.) The court ordered that restitution be paid "as set by Adult Probation and Parole."

(R. 170, at 8:23-24; *see also* R. 46 [Judgment/Sentence (restitution to be determined by AP&P)].) No further mention of restitution occurred at the 1995 sentencing hearing.

Ms. Keele subsequently reviewed the "Special Conditions of Probation" with an AP&P agent. Ms. Keele was required to initial each paragraph relating to the terms of her probation. When Ms. Keele initialed the restitution paragraph, the space for the court-ordered amount read, "TBD," or To Be Determined. (R. 152, para. 6, 7.)

On May 16, 1996, AP&P received a memo from Smith's Returned Check Department claiming that, with service fees added, Ms. Keele owed Smith's \$17,319.44. (R. 171, Ex. 1.) The memo does not itemize the charges or list individual checks. The memo does not indicate when the checks were passed. The memo does not indicate the quantity of checks involved. The memo provides no detail about how the total claim was calculated. (*Id.*)

AP&P informed Ms. Keele that she was required to pay \$17,319.44 in restitution on or about October 17, 1996, more than ten months after the sentencing hearing. (R. 152, para. 10.) Ms. Keele disputed the amount said to be owing, and was advised by her AP&P agent to contact an attorney. (R. 171, at 16:10-24.) During the time between the sentencing hearing and when Ms. Keele learned of the initial restitution calculation, she successfully completed a 60-day inpatient drug rehabilitation program. (*See* R. 170, at 7:21-8:8, 9:6-11.) During the same period, getting on with her life and trying to be a good person were uppermost in Ms. Keele's mind. (R. 171, at 37:7-18.)

Ms. Keele contacted Smith's in or about 1996 to determine how Smith's calculated its restitution claim. Ms. Keele spoke to a man named Miller, who was the supervisor of Smith's "Bad [sic] Check Department." The supervisor could not provide any detail as to how the total restitution claim was calculated. (R. 171, at 38:1-39:9.) When Ms. Keele asked her AP&P agent how the total restitution claim was calculated, she was told only that the \$17,319.44 total was what Smith's claimed to be owed. (R. 171, at 39:13-19.) When Ms. Keele contacted Smith's on three separate occasions during January 2005, Smith's could not provide any information about how much restitution was owing, instead indicating that it had no record whatsoever of Ms. Keele's indebtedness. (R. 171, at 32:11-33:2.) In 2005, the State assigned a paralegal to work with Smith's to substantiate the initial claim, and Smith's was unable to do so. (R. 171, at 46:25-47:4.) The State conceded at the 2005 hearing that Smith's likely has no further evidence with which to substantiate the initial calculation. (R. 171, at 51:11-12 ["I agree ... we're probably not going to find anything further from Smith's records"].)

No court findings or order calculated either complete restitution or court-ordered restitution. No notice to defense counsel that restitution had been fixed at \$17,319.44 was provided. No sentencing hearing occurred at which Ms. Keele could object to the amount of court-ordered restitution, which would have invoked her right to a "full hearing" on the issue. No notice of Ms. Keele's right to inspect the evidence upon which

the amount was calculated was provided. No formal notice to Ms. Keele that she was entitled to a hearing with assistance of counsel to challenge the calculation was provided.

Ms. Keele consistently worked at least 40 hours per week since 1996, and, despite health problems and a limited disposable income related to attempts at starting her own small business, she has consistently paid approximately \$50 per month toward her obligation. (R. 39:23-42:18.) As of the 2005 hearing, Ms. Keele had paid approximately \$4,679 towards restitution: \$1,355 to AP&P; and, \$3,275 to the Office of State Collections (hereinafter, "OSC"). (R. 171, at 22:12-20.)

In May 1999, Ms. Keele wrote a letter to Judge Young in which she complained that OSC's collection fees had increased the balance of restitution by more than \$3,000 from the \$16,014.14 she was told she still owed: "As of this February I owe \$16,014.14 for restitution. After GC Services got ahold [sic] of my account they informed me I now owe \$19,897.12." (R. 171, Ex. 9.) The hand-written 1999 letter included no objection to the manner in which the restitution amount was calculated, nor did it request a hearing. (*Id.*) In apparent response to the 1999 letter, Judge Young first ordered Ms. Keele's account returned to AP&P administration (R. 73), and then *sua sponte* reversed that order "after further examination." (R. 75.)

Ms. Keele, proceeding *pro se*, filed the Motion to Terminate Restitution in 2004. The *pro se* motion does not challenge the method by which the original calculation was made, request a hearing thereon, or challenge the lack of notice and opportunity to be

heard at the time of the initial calculation. (R. 77.) Only after the *pro se* motion was filed, and this office became involved,² was Ms. Keele's right to challenge the initial calculation invoked. (*See* R. 94.)

At the 2005 hearing, defense counsel noted that said hearing constituted Ms. Keele's first opportunity to challenge the accuracy of the initial restitution calculation. (R. 171, at 47:20-24.) Defense counsel contended that, owing to the irregularities surrounding the initial calculation, the trial court was required to conduct its own calculation. (*E.g.*, 171, at 49:8-50:1, 50:14-20.) The trial court, however, concluded that Ms. Keele's 1999 hand-written letter (R. 171, Ex. 9) constituted an admission by Ms. Keele that she owed the amount claimed by Smith's. (R. 171, at 5:11-17, 54:9-14 ["So the court is going to enter a finding based on defendant's agreement and admission in her letter, that as of February of 1999 she owed \$16,014.14"].)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both Points I and II recall the same theme: the extra-judicial calculation and imposition of restitution in 1996 violated the plea agreement, state statute, and Ms. Keele's constitutional rights to due process and assistance of counsel; the trial court, in 2005, was required to address these problems by calculating both complete and court-ordered restitution based upon conduct for which Ms. Keele admitted responsibility in

²The notice of hearing that issued following the State's response to the *pro se* motion was not addressed to this law office, but rather to Ms. Keele's home address in Idaho. (R. 89-91.)

1995; and, by not doing so, the 2005 trial court exceeded its statutory authority (Point I) and abused its discretion (Point II).

Point I: The court exceeded its statutory authority by imposing restitution based upon "criminal activities" for which Ms. Keele was not convicted and for which she did not admit responsibility.

Ms. Keele agreed to pay restitution stemming from the conduct alleged in three cases filed in 1995. The State agreed that no other cases would be filed that stemmed from conduct prior to July 13, 1995. Evidence in the form of the informations, the plea agreement and State counsel's notations thereon, and the sentencing hearing transcript establish that the conduct for which Ms. Keele admitted responsibility caused approximately \$280 in pecuniary damages, including \$100 to Smith's. Smith's, however, submitted a restitution claim to AP&P in the amount of \$17,319.

Pursuant to Utah law then in place, court-ordered restitution could only be based upon actual conduct for which the defendant was convicted or admitted responsibility. Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(1)(b), (4)(c)(ii) & (8)(a) (1995).

At the 2005 hearing – the first "full hearing" at which Ms. Keele was permitted to challenge the initial calculation – the trial court expressly based its calculation of restitution upon a letter written by Ms. Keele in 1999 without assistance of counsel and addressing an entirely different restitution issue. Most significantly, the 1999 letter did not admit responsibility to any conduct; rather, it merely recited what Ms. Keele was told

she owed. By its reliance upon the 1999 letter, the trial court exceeded its statutory authority by calculating restitution based upon sources not permitted by law.

Point II: The trial court abused its discretion by characterizing the 1999 letter as an admission of responsibility, rather than calculating court-ordered restitution based upon accurate and reliable facts.

Ms. Keele agreed to pay restitution for the three cases filed in 1995. Those cases allege the passing of two bad checks that totaled \$280. The trial court in 2005, however, calculated court-ordered restitution based upon the 1999 letter written by Ms. Keele without assistance of counsel, attempting to raise an issue unrelated to the initial calculation of restitution, and merely confirming Ms. Keele's lack of knowledge of her right to challenge that calculation.

ARGUMENT

Point I: The Trial Court Exceeded Its Statutory Authority by Calculating Court-Ordered Restitution Based upon Conduct for which Ms. Keele Did Not Admit Responsibility.

In December 1995, the trial court was limited by statute to order restitution based only upon conduct for which Ms. Keele was either convicted or admitted responsibility:

When a person is convicted of criminal activity that has resulted in pecuniary damages, in addition to any other sentence it may impose, the court shall order that the defendant make restitution to victims of crime as provided in this subsection, or for conduct for which the defendant has agreed to make restitution as part of a plea agreement....

Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(a)(i) (1995); *see* Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(1) (2003)(the current statutory section that imposes similar restrictions). Criminal activities, in turn, were defined as any "offense" for which a defendant was convicted or "conduct" for which a defendant admitted responsibility. Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(1)(b) (1995); *see* § 77-38a-102(2) (2003).

Whereas "complete" restitution might encompass all monetary damages caused by a defendant, actual "court-ordered" restitution was limited only to those damages flowing from criminal conduct admitted by the defendant. The trial court lacked jurisdiction to order restitution for conduct that was neither the subject of a conviction nor an admission of responsibility. Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(c)(i) & (ii) (1995); *see* Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(2)(a) & (b) (2003). Even the provision that guided the actual calculation of restitution, Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(8) (1995), focused upon "conduct" for which the defendant admitted responsibility. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(5) (2003).

In *State v. Watson*, 1999 UT APP 273, 987 P.2d 1289 (*per curium*), the trial court inferred from the evidence that the defendant was responsible for certain criminal conduct. This court, interpreting statutory language nearly identical to that at issue here, held that court-ordered restitution could stem only from conduct for which the defendant clearly admitted responsibility:

To conclude that [defendant] admitted responsibility for the murder and that there was a sufficient nexus to hold her accountable to the victim's family for restitution, the trial court examined and made inferences about [defendant's] state of mind based upon the evidence before it. However, the statute is more narrow.

It does not ask the trial court to analyze a defendant's state of mind, but rather asks it to focus on admissions made to the sentencing court. In other words, the statute requires that responsibility for the criminal conduct be firmly established, much like a guilty plea, before the court can order restitution.

Id., at ¶ 5; *accord State v. Galli*, 967 P.2d 930, 937-38 (Utah 1998)(court-ordered restitution may be based upon uncharged criminal activity only if the defendant admits responsibility therefor); *Mast*, at ¶¶ 16-19 (vacating order of restitution based upon conduct for which the defendant neither was convicted nor admitted responsibility).

Three cases were filed against Ms. Keele herein based upon her July 13, 1995 arrest. For purposes of court-ordered restitution, Ms. Keele admitted responsibility for all conduct alleged in those three cases. The plea agreement executed by Ms. Keele, the State and the trial court stated, "Defendant agrees to restitution on all cases." (R. 32.) The trial court, therefore, in 1995, could not have based court-restitution upon any charge or allegation outside those three cases.

In 1995, moreover, Ms. Keele was denied an opportunity to challenge the initial calculation at sentencing. A defendant objecting to the amount of court-ordered restitution at sentencing in 1995 was entitled to a "full hearing" on the issue. Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(e) (1995); *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(4) (2003). Prior to Ms. Keele's sentencing, however, the PSI (R. 47) contained no calculation of complete restitution or a recommendation for court-ordered restitution. The sentencing court calculated neither complete nor court-ordered restitution at the sentencing hearing or in any court order that followed. Ms. Keele only learned of the initial restitution

calculation some ten months after the sentencing hearing – from AP&P. The trial court's failure to calculate court-ordered restitution not only violated Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(a)(iii) & (c) (1995), but it denied Ms. Keele and her attorney the opportunity to object to any such calculation. Having been deprived of the opportunity to object to court-ordered restitution at sentencing, Ms. Keele was denied her opportunity to a full hearing on any such objection. Serving finally as the "full hearing," therefore, the 2005 proceedings were crucial.

At the 2005 hearing, the court was required to consider evidence relevant to the calculating court-ordered restitution. *See State v. Weeks*, 2002 UT 98, ¶ 20, 61 P.3d 1000 (while rules of evidence may not apply at the full hearing, "the dispositive question is whether the sentencing court correctly concluded that the restitution amount was justified on the basis of the evidence presented to it"). The determination critical to calculating court-ordered restitution should have been: For what conduct did Ms. Keele admit responsibility before the sentencing court. The answer, based upon the Informations, the plea agreement, and the transcript from the sentencing hearing, was that Ms. Keele admitted responsibility for conduct stemming from the three cases, which caused approximately \$280 in pecuniary damage.

The court, however, took a different track. It concluded that Ms. Keele's 1999 letter constituted an admission of responsibility upon which restitution could be based:

So that's why I think this letter from the defendant dated May of – in her handwriting – of '99 is so crucial, where she admits that she owes \$16,014.14. If

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