2005

Utah v. Keele : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should deny defendant’s challenge to the 1995 restitution order, including any claims that the order was improperly based on conduct for which defendant had not admitted responsibility or that the order was improperly calculated. Defendant waived her right to a restitution hearing and her right to challenge the amount of restitution when she did not timely request a hearing or file an objection. In any case, the 1995 restitution order and its 1996 modification were properly based on both conduct for which defendant admitted responsibility *and* conduct for which she agreed to make restitution as part of her plea agreement.

Further, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in 2005 when it denied defendant’s 2004 motions to terminate restitution. It cannot be said that no reasonable person would have taken the view taken by the trial court. Another jurist, in fact, might have entered a ruling far less favorable to defendant.

ARGUMENT

Defendant challenges both the trial court’s 1995 restitution order and its 2005 denial of her motions to terminate restitution. *See* Br. Appellant at 11, 16.

Overview of restitution law. Utah law requires the imposition of restitution in an appropriate case. While the law has been amended since 1995, the amendments have not changed the basic mandate: “When a person is *convicted of criminal activity* that has resulted in pecuniary damages, in addition to any other sentence it may impose, the court

shall order that the defendant make restitution to victims of crime as provided in this subsection, or *for conduct for which the defendant has agreed to make restitution as part of the plea agreement*. Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(a) (1995) (emphasis added); *cf.* Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(a) (West 2004). Criminal activities include “any offense of which the defendant is convicted or any other criminal conduct for which the defendant admits responsibility to the sentencing court” Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(1)(b) (1995); *cf.* Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(1)(b) (West 2004). Thus, a court may order restitution for (1) a defendant’s conduct that resulted in conviction, (2) conduct for which the defendant admitted responsibility, and (3) conduct for which the defendant agreed to make restitution as part of a plea agreement.

A court is required to determine complete and court-ordered restitution. Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201 (1995); *cf.* Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(2) (West 2004) (Crime Victims Restitution Act). Complete restitution is “the restitution necessary to compensate a victim for all losses caused by the defendant.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201 (4)(c)(i) (1995). Court-ordered restitution is “the restitution the court having criminal jurisdiction orders the defendant to pay as part of the criminal sentence at the time of sentencing.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201 (4)(c)(ii) (1995). In determining court-ordered restitution, a court must consider, in addition to the losses to the victim, the financial resources of the defendant, the burden that the payment of restitution will impose on the defendant, and the rehabilitative effect of the payment and method of payment. Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201 (8)(c) (1995).

To aid the court in determining complete and court-ordered restitution, AP&P prepares a presentence investigation report (PSI). Utah Code Ann. § 64-13-20(5) (1995). The PSI should include a victim impact statement, identifying all the victims and itemizing their economic losses. *Id.* “If the defendant objects to the imposition, amount, or distribution of the restitution, the court shall at the time of sentencing allow [the defendant] a full hearing on the issue.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(e) (1995). If a defendant does not object to restitution or request a restitution hearing, she waives her right to a hearing. *See State v. Weeks*, 2000 UT App 273, ¶ 10, 12 P.3d 110, *aff’d on different grounds*, 2002 UT 98, 61 P.3d 1000; *State v. Snyder*, 747 P.2d 417, 421 (Utah 1987) (holding that where Snyder “lodged no objection to the imposition, amount, or distribution of the restitution ordered” and did not “request a hearing on the issue,” he “waived the right he had to challenge the order of restitution”). A trial court may enter a restitution order requiring restitution in an amount to be determined by AP&P. *See, e.g., State v. Larsen*, 876 P.2d 391, 393 (Utah App. 1994) (noting trial court’s imposition of “restitution in an amount to be determined by the Department of Adult Probation and Parole”).

A trial court has continuing jurisdiction to supervise its restitution orders. Statutory law grants the trial courts jurisdiction to enforce restitution in two ways: “as a probation condition” and “as a separate and independent component of the court’s judgment and the defendant’s original sentence.” *State v. Nones*, 2000 UT App 211, ¶ 9, 11 P.3d 709; *see also State v. Dickey*, 841 P.2d 1203, 1205 (Utah App. 1992). The court may revoke or extend probation to enforce restitution. *See Nones*, 2000 UT App 211, ¶

13. The court may also hold a defendant in contempt for failure to comply with restitution orders. *Id.* The court’s power to hold a non-complying defendant in contempt exists even where probation is not imposed and continues even when probation is terminated. *Id.* at ¶¶ 12-13.

As part of its ongoing power to supervise restitution, the trial court also has ongoing power to make appropriate modifications or clarifications of the restitution order. For instance, in *State v. Allen*, 2000 UT App 340, ¶ 2, 15 P.3d 110, the trial court imposed judgment, ordering Allen to “serve 36 months probation and pay restitution to his victim for her counseling and associated costs.” In October 1999, some three years later and after Allen’s probation had been terminated, “the trial court held restitution review hearings at defendant’s request to clarify its restitution order.” *Id.* at ¶ 4. The trial court imposed restitution to cover the victim’s continued counseling, ordered Allen to pay the victim’s medical and counseling bills through October 2000, and provided that the restitution order could be modified “upon a hearing should the victim require treatment past October 2000.” *Id.* at ¶ 15.

I.

THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT DEFENDANT’S CHALLENGE TO THE 1995/1996 RESTITUTION ORDER BECAUSE HER CHALLENGE IS UNTIMELY AND BECAUSE THE ORDER RESTED ON CONDUCT FOR WHICH DEFENDANT AGREED TO PAY RESTITUTION AS PART OF HER PLEA AGREEMENT

Defendant claims that “the trial court exceeded its statutory authority by calculating court-ordered restitution based upon conduct for which [she] did not admit responsibility.” Br. Appellant at 11. Defendant argues that “[i]n December 1995, the

trial court was limited by statute to order restitution based upon conduct for which [she] was either convicted or admitted responsibility.” *Id.*

Defendant thus challenges either the 1995 restitution order, which ordered restitution to be determined by AP&P, or its modification in 1996 when AP&P finally calculated and notified defendant of the amount.

District court proceedings. As part of its December 11, 1995 judgment, the trial court ordered defendant to pay restitution in an amount to be determined by AP&P.

R45-46. Defendant concedes in her brief that AP&P informed her of the amount approximately ten months after the sentencing hearing. *See* Br. Appellant at 14. Further, the trial court’s findings at its hearing on defendant’s motion to terminate restitution indicate that on October 17, 1996, AP&P agent Glade Anderson showed defendant an offender obligation form that “indicated restitution owing of \$17,319.44.” R152.

Defendant does not dispute Agent Anderson’s testimony that he advised her “to contact her attorney and attempt to settle the amount through a hearing.” R171:16. Despite notice of the amount calculated, defendant did not object, did not request a restitution hearing, and did not appeal. Neither did defense counsel file any objection or request a restitution hearing at that time or in 1997 when he appeared for a review hearing on defendant’s probation. *See* R65.

A. Defendant waived her right to a restitution hearing and her right to challenge the restitution amount.

Defendant waived her right to a restitution hearing and her right to challenge the restitution amount. The restitution statute in effect in 1995 and 1996 provided: “If the

defendant objects to the imposition, amount, or distribution of the restitution, the court shall at the time of sentencing allow [the defendant] a full hearing on the issue.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(e) (1995); *cf.* Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-203(2)(c) (West 2004). Interpreting this language, which also appeared in the 1999 version of the statute, this Court held that a defendant who does not object to the recommended restitution amount or request a restitution hearing “at or before sentencing and [who] ha[s] no good cause not to make the request, . . . waive[s] his [or her] entitlement to a restitution hearing.” *Weeks*, 2000 UT App 273, ¶ 10; *Snyder*, 747 P.2d at 421.

Defendant may have had good cause not to object to restitution or to request a restitution hearing when the trial court imposed restitution to be determined by AP&P. Once notified of the amount, however, defendant made no request for a restitution hearing, nor did she challenge the restitution amount until 2005. Defendant had the opportunity to do so in 1996 when AP&P informed her of the amount due and told her to contact her attorney about a hearing. She did not contact her attorney or the court, or, if she did contact her attorney, neither of them objected to the amount or requested a hearing.

Defendant, in fact, did not request a restitution hearing or object to the amount of restitution for the next eight years. She did not object through counsel when, in 1997, he appeared for a review hearing on defendant’s probation. While she did contact the court in 1999 to object to the accumulation of interest and fees, she did not, even then, request a restitution hearing or contest the amount of the restitution order. Defendant’s failure at

every opportunity to alert the trial court to any concerns prevented the court from ordering a restitution hearing or addressing the restitution amount at an appropriate time.

Defendant has not shown good cause for the approximately eight-year delay between the time restitution was fixed and her challenge to the restitution amount. Her failure to timely challenge the amount waived her right to challenge it eight years later or to object on the basis that in 2005 the prosecution could not produce all of the documentation underlying AP&P's 1996 restitution calculation. As the prosecutor argued below, it would be "unjust to have someone wait all these years . . . until it's difficult to establish exactly where the restitution came from, and then claim that she should be relieved of the fact of paying restitution." R171:51; *see James v. Galetka*, 965 P.2d 567, 574 (Utah App. 1998) (noting that any error in considering restitution factors should have been brought to the immediate attention of the sentencing judge); *Jackson v. State*, 530 So.2d 900, 902 (Ala. Crim. App. 1988) (observing that objections should be made "as soon as the ground for the objection becomes apparent," when the court can remedy a problem without imposing severe sanctions, and that "a defendant should not be permitted to gain any advantage . . . by delay in filing objection").

B. The 1995 restitution order and its 1996 modification were proper.

In any case, the trial court did not err when it imposed restitution to be determined by AP&P. Moreover, AP&P's calculation was properly based on the conduct for which defendant was convicted *and* the conduct for which she agreed to pay restitution as part of her plea agreement.

Defendant concedes that she admitted responsibility for her conduct in all three cases that were charged. Br. Appellant at 13. Defendant also concedes that she agreed to pay “restitution on all cases.” *Id.*; *see also* R32. Defendant’s argument, however, is not completely clear. She either argues that the trial court could not legally impose restitution for her conduct in uncharged cases or that she agreed to pay restitution only on the three charged cases and not on the cases the State agreed not to charge as part of the plea agreement. *See* Br. Appellant at 13.

1. In 1995, as under current law, the trial court could impose jurisdiction for conduct for which the defendant agreed to pay restitution as part of her plea agreement.

If defendant is making a legal argument, i.e., that statutory law permitted restitution only for conduct for which the defendant was convicted or for conduct for which the defendant admitted responsibility, defendant misreads the law. The 1995 law provided: “When a person is convicted of criminal activity that has resulted in pecuniary damages, in addition to any other sentence it may impose, the court shall order that the defendant make restitution to victims of crime as provided in this subsection, *or for conduct for which the defendant has agreed to make restitution as part of the plea agreement.*” Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(a)(i) (1995) (emphasis added); *cf.* Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(a) (West 2004). The final clause of the subsection is dispositive. A court may order restitution not only for conduct for which a defendant admits responsibility, but also for conduct for which she agrees to pay restitution as part of the plea agreement. Here, defendant agreed to pay “restitution on all cases.” R32.

Defendant also claims that “[w]hereas ‘complete’ restitution might encompass all monetary damages caused by a defendant, actual ‘court-ordered’ restitution was limited [in 1995] only to those damages flowing from criminal conduct admitted by the defendant.” Br. Appellant at 12. Defendant’s misstates the law. In 1995, as now, complete restitution was defined as “the restitution necessary to compensate a victim for all losses caused by the defendant.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(c)(i) (1995); *cf.* Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(2)(a) (West 2004). Then, as now, court-ordered restitution was defined as “the restitution the court having criminal jurisdiction orders the defendant to pay as part of the criminal sentence at the time of sentencing.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(4)(c)(ii) 1995); *cf.* Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(2)(b) (West 2004). Then, as now, after determining complete restitution, but before determining court-ordered restitution, the trial court was required to consider the financial resources of the defendant, the burden that payment of restitution would impose, the ability of the defendant to pay restitution, and the rehabilitative effect on the defendant of the payment of restitution. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-201(8)(b) (1995); *cf.* Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(5)(c) (West 2004). Thus, the difference between complete and court-ordered restitution is not whether defendant admitted responsibility for certain conduct or whether she agreed to pay restitution for certain conduct as part of her plea agreement. Rather, the difference is simply that the court must consider not only the amount of complete restitution, but also the ability of the defendant to pay and the effect of the restitution order on the defendant before it imposes court-ordered restitution.

In sum, defendant's claim that court-ordered restitution could not be based on conduct for which defendant had not admitted responsibility is inconsistent with statutory law. Indeed, a court may order restitution that a defendant agrees to pay as part of a plea agreement. Clearly, a defendant may agree to pay restitution for conduct she does not admit in order to obtain a more favorable plea agreement.

2. Defendant agreed to pay restitution for losses occasioned by uncharged, as well as charged, conduct.

If defendant is making a factual argument, i.e., that her agreement to pay restitution on all cases meant only on all charged cases, her claim is without record support.

First, defendant's claim is inconsistent with the plea agreement. Defendant pled guilty to two counts of forgery in case 951901411, based on conduct occurring on July 13 and 19, 1995. *See* R40-41; *see also* District Court Docket (951901411). As its part of the plea agreement, the State dismissed three charges of possession of a forged writing in that case. *See* R40-41; *see also* District Court Docket (951901411). The State also dismissed one count of forgery and one count of theft by receiving stolen property in case 951901412. *See* R40-41; *see also* District Court Docket (951901412). The State further dismissed two counts of possession of a controlled substance in case 951901413. *See* R40-41; *see also* District Court Docket (951901413). Finally, the State agreed not to bring charges for criminal conduct occurring prior to July 13, 1995. *See* R32. In exchange, defendant agreed to "restitution on all cases." *Id.* Thus, the plea statement evidences defendant's agreement to pay restitution not only for losses occasioned by her

charged conduct but also for losses occasioned by conduct the State could have charged, but agreed not to charge as part of the plea agreement.

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